; 

A. IDEN~bTY OF PETITIONER 

Steven Kayser, defendant below, petitions the 

Court to review the issues listed below. 

B. COURT OF APPEAH~ OPINION 

Mr. Kayser seeks review of the unpublished 

opinion in State v. Kayser, COA No. 71518-6-I (Slip 

Op., Dec. 21, 2015). App. A. The Court of Appeals 

denied Mr. Kayser's motion for reconsideration 

(Feb . 2 2 , 2 0 16) . App. B .

C. ISSUES PiESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does defense of property require proof 

that a trespasser acted with actual malice, or 

merely that the person defending his property 

reasonably perceived the trespass was malicious? 

2. Did the incorrect standard for defense of 

property erroneously lead the Court of Appeals to 

deny the claim of ineffective assistance of 

counsel? 

3. Does the Eighth Amendment or the 

separation of powers doctrine grant the sentencing 

court discretion to consider an offender's advanced 

age and meritorious life to reduce a three-year 

firearm sentence enhancement? 
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D. STA~EMENT OF THE CASE 

Steven Kayser is an inventor. Now 71 years 

old, he worked full-time from age nine. He served 

in the Air Force. He holds degrees in accounting, 

business and taxation. As a forensic accountant he 

was a cooperating witness with the FBI and United 

States Attorney on criminal fraud matters. His 

work resulted in death threats. RP 814-21. 

Mr. Kayser owns many patents, trademarks 1 

copyrights and trade secrets. Some of his products 

have been counterfeited, resulting in litigation. 

RP 818-20, 822. 

In 2006 Mr. Kayser moved to Whatcom County. 

His home has a barn, which he uses as an office and 

warehouse for his inventions. The property has a 

large gate with prominent no-trespassing signs. 

Exs. 71-77. The barn contains trade secrets and 

inventions. It is locked at all times. Plywood 

covers windows and doors so people cannot see in. 

His office is marked at the end nearest the house. 

RP 819-20. In 2007, Mr. Kayser married Gloria. 

Young. RP 744-49. 
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In late 2009-early 2010, Mr. Kayser referred a 

fraud matter to the federal government. He 

anticipated retaliation. RP 821-22. 

on February 18, 2010, Ms. Young saw a strange 

car parked on their property near the road. It 

hadn't pulled up to the front of the warehouse or 

the house, as most people did. RP 781-91, 753-55 1 

308, 323i Exs. 6, 11 1 14, 22, 32. 

long hair and unkempt clothes 

A burly man with 

went up to the 

warehouse. He ·looked into a boarded window. He 

tried the handle on a locked door. Then he walked 

around the building and out of sight, to an area 

where there was only a propane tank. RP 753-55, 

781-85, 308-09, 327, 355, 364. 

Ms. Young quickly locked the door and phoned 

Mr. Kayser in his office.· She told him there was a 

large man snooping around, looking into boarded 

windows, trying to jimmy a locked door. Ms. Young 

was very scared. RP 757-58, 771-72, 792-98. 

Ms. Young saw the man walk towards Mr. 

Kayser's office. She stepped outside and walked 

slowly toward him to distract him. She was much 
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smaller than he was. RP 308-09. 1 She was scared 

of him, but shouted, 11 Who are you, what do you 

want? 11 RP 759. The man didn't answer. RP 332. 

The man walked toward her, calling, 11 Are you 

Mrs. Kayser?" She said yes, her name was Gloria 

Young. He handed her papers. Without her glasses, 

she couldn't read them. She asked what they were. 

She saw he had something shiny in his hand. RP 

760-61, 799-801, 248-62, 307, 337-39. The man, 

later identified as process server Mark Adams, 

agreed his behavior could have scared a 75-year-old 

woman. RP 332-34. 

Mr. Kayser came out of his office, walked 

toward the house, and was shocked to see Ms. Young 

outside. About two feet from her was a big man who 

looked like a biker, hair blowing in the breeze. 

Mr. Kayser didn't understand why this man was so 

close to his wife. RP 824-25. 

Mr. Kayser called out, 11 Can I help you? 11 The 

man did not respond. RP 340-41. The man asked if 

he was Steven Kayser. Mr. Kayser responded, 11 Yes, 

Steven Kayser. Can I help you? 11 The man handed 

1 

old. 
Gloria Young was 5' tall and 7 5 years 

Mr. Kayser was 5'5 11 • RP 235. 
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him papers. Mr. Kayser, sensing something was 

wrong, grabbed the papers, never taking his eyes 

off the man. RP 825-28, 262-66, 341-42. 

The man took several steps back toward Ms. 

Young. As he reached into a metal container, Mr. 

Kayser immediately thought I 11 Gun, gun, gun. 11 RP 

763-64. He said loudly, 11 You've got five seconds 

to get off the property." RP 828, 267-68, 334-35, 

342, 738. The man didn, t move. Mr. Kayser 

repeated his warning. The man still did not move 

or say anything. RP 828-29, 763-65. 

Mr. Kayser quickly ran into his office and got 

his shotgun. He ran back up the steps to where the 

Mr. Kayser again said he had five 

off the property, and started 

man still stood. 

seconds to get 

counting. RP 829. 

Mr. Kayser was very frightened. He saw Ms. 

Young; he thought of her high blood pressure. Mr. 

Kayser counted again. When the man did nothing, he 

shot the gun up into the air. RP 271. 

Mr. Kayser repeated his warning and counted 

again. After five, he shot in the air again. Now 

the man moved: he walked slowly on the gravel. RP 

765-67, 808-09. At his car near the road, the man 
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looked back. Mr. Kayser said again, "I'm counting 

to five. u The man got into the car and made a 

motion toward the windshield with something in his 

hand. Again, Mr. Kayser was afraid he had a gun. 

RP 832-35. 

Mr. Kayser fired a third shot into the air. 

RP 835-36. Mr. Kayser wanted the man off his 

property and away from his wife. RP 870, 888, 894-

95. He believed the man was trespassing and 

threatening them. RP 875. The man drove off. Mr. 

Kayser closed the gate to his property. RP 858-59. 

1. SELF-DEFENSE AND DEFENSE OF PROPERTY 

The defense theory was that Mr. Kayser acted 

in defense of his wife, himself, and his property. 

Defense counsel described Mr. Kayser's fears and 

his goal for Mr. Adams to "leave my property" in 

opening statement. RP 239. Mr. Adams did not 

identify himself or his purpose when he went on the 

property. RP 260-61. Deputy King admitted he 

would be alarmed if a stranger came onto his 

property, was snooping around, and didn't come to 

the door. RP 485-86. The defense established if a 

process server remains witpout permission after 

completing service, it is a trespass. RP 490. 
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2. JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND VERDICT 

The defense proposed a lawful use of force 

instruction that included self-defense, defense of 

others, and defense of property, and instructions 

defining trespasser. CP 100, 105-06. When the 

State requested a separate instruction defining 

"malicious," defense counsel withdrew the proposed 

paragraph on defense of property. The jury was 

then left with only self-defense and defense of 

another. The State argued Mr. Kayser had no 

reasonable fear of injury. Defense counsel again 

referred to defense of property in closing. RP 

1100-01. 

After deliberaiing roughly one full day the 

jury found Mr. Kayser guilty of second degree 

assault while armed with a firearm. CP 70-71, 5-6. 

3. SENTENCING 

Mr. Kayser has lived his life crime~free. RP 

1129. In addition to assisting law enforcement 

much of his life, he has proven himself generous, 

often helping others in need. He is extremely 

devoted to his wife. CP 117-90, 194-205. Even the 
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State recommended a sentence at the bottom of the 

standard range. RP 1134; CP 206-08. 2 

The defense moved for an exceptional sentence 

below the mandatory 36-month firearm enhancement. 

It argued the Constitution required the court to 

consider the characteristics of the person before 

it for sentencing, including his age, his good 

character, and his genuine belief that he needed to 

protect himself, his wife and his property against 

an unidentified trespasser. RP 1133-34; CP 194-

205. The Court noted its frustration with the 

mandatory sentence that "may not be what the Court 

would have chose to do, 11 but concluded it was 

bound. The judge commented she would watch the 

Court of Appeals decision with interest. RP 1138-

40. She imposed a sentence at the bottom of the 

standard range, three months, plus the enhancement 

for a total of 39 months in prison, CP 10-19 and 

released Mr. Kayser pending appeal. CP 191. 

4. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION 

2 Pretrial, the State offered to dismiss 
the firearm enhancement and reduce the charge to 
three misdemeanors of reckless endangerment with 12 
months probation and an anger management class. 
Mr. Kayser declined to plead to any crime. CP 198. 
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The Court of Appeals reversed Mr. Kayser's 

conviction for the erroneous admission of evidence 

under ER 404(b}. It continued to address remaining 

issues, however, that might arise on retrial. 

The Court rejected appellant's claim of 

ineffective assistance of counsel, U.S. Const., 

amends. 6, 14, for withdrawing the defense of 

property theory when the state proposed an 

additional instruction defining "malicious." 

"The defense of property is available to 

justify the use of force only if the trespass is 

11 malicious' 11 Slip Op. at 9-10, citing RCW 

9A.16.020. The Court of Appeals concluded: 

It was a legitimate tactical 
decision for counsel to decide against 
pursuing a defense that would require the 
jury to find that Adams acted with 
malice. There was little or no evidence 
that Adams came on Kayser's property with 
a wish to annoy or injure anyone. 

Instead, counsel argued self-defense 
and defense of another. That defense 
theory did not depend on Adams' actual 
intent, but instead focused on what 
Kayser reasonably believed. It was more 
consistent with Kayser's testimony that 
Adams' conduct made him afraid for 
himself and more particularly for his 
wife. 

Slip Op. at 10 (emphases added}. 

The Court of Appeals also affirmed appellant's 

sentence, concluding the Constitution only allowed 
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a juvenile to overcome mandatory sentences. 

Statement of Add'l Grounds at 1-14; Slip Op. at 12. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1 . THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRONEOUSLY HELD 
THAT "MALICIOUS TRESPASS" FOR PURPOSES OF 
DEFENSE OF PROPERTY WAS TO BE JUDGED 
OBJECTIVELY AND THEREFORE INCORRECTLY 
HELD THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL DID NOT PROVIDE 
INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, 
VIOLATING MR. KAYSER'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS 
AND CREATING INCORRECT LAW OF THE CASE 
FOR RETRIAL. RAP 13.4(b) (1) I (2) I (3). 

The lawful use of force -- to defend oneself, 

another 1 or one's property -- is defined in the 

same paragraph of the same statute. 

The use, attempt, or offer to use 
force upon or toward the person of 
another is not unlawful in the following 
cases: 

(3) Whenever used by a party about 
to be injured, or by another lawfully 
aiding him or her, in preventing or 
attempting to prevent an offense against 
his or her person, or a malicious 
trespass, or other malicious interference 
with real or personal property lawfully 
in his or her possession, in case the 
force is not more than is necessary; 

RCW 9A.l6.020 {emphasis added). 

a. Malicious Trespass, for Purposes of 
Defense of Property 1 Turns on the 
Defendant 1 s Reasonable Belief 1 Not A 
Trespasser's Actual Intent. 
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This Court recognized that nmalice" for 

defense of property is based on the defendant's 

reasonable belief. 

Here, the trial court correctly 
instructed the jury that O'Hara's actions 
were justified if he was acting in self
defense of his person or his property. 
In particular, the court instructed the 
jury that if 0 1 Hara reasonably believed 
Loree was maliciously trespassing or 
maliciously interfering with O'Hara's 
property, he was justified in using 
reasonable force. 

State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 106, 217 P.3d 756 

(2009} (emphasis added) . For all cases of self-

defense or defense of others, the same standard is 

applied: whether the defendant reasonably believed 

he needed to use force. 3 

To establish self-defense, a defendant 
must produce evidence showing that he or 
she had a good faith belief in the 
necessity of force and that that belief 
was objectively reasonable. 
Evidence of self-defense is viewed "from 
the standpoint of a reasonably prudent 
person, knowing all the defendant knows 
and seeing all the defendant sees." 

State v. Graves, 97 Wn. App. 55, 62, 982 P.2d 627 

(1999), quoting State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 238, 

3 Defense of property, unlike self -defense, 
does not require a showing that the defendant 
believes he is about to be injured. State v. 
Bland, 128 Wn. App. 511, 514, 116 P.3d 428 (2005}. 
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,· 

850 P.2d 495 1 22 A.L.R.Sth 921 (1993} . 4 The same 

standard applies to defense of others: 

An individual who acts in defense of 
another person, reasonably believing him 
to be the innocent party and in danger 1 

is justified in using force necessary to 
protect that person even ifl in facti the 
party whom he is defending was the 
aggressor. If properly requested by the 
defense 1 a 11 defense of others 11 

instruction must be given whenever there 
is evidence from which the jury could 
conclude that, under the circumstances 1 

the actor' s apprehension of danger and 
use of force were reasonable. 

State v. Bernardy, 25 Wn. app. 146, 168, 605 P.2d 

791 (1980) 1 citing State v. Penn, 89 Wn.2d 63, 568 

P.2d 797 (1977); State v. Fischer, 23 Wn. App. 756, 

598 P.2d 642 (1979). 

Nothing about the malicious trespass provision 

suggests it should be interpreted differently. 

b. The Facts of the Case Support a 
Defense of Property Instruction. 

i~ Mr. Adams trespassed by 
remaining on the property. 

A person "enters or remains unlawfully" 
in or upon premises when he or she is not 
then licensed, invited, or otherwise 
privileged to so enter or remain. 

4 Accord: State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 221, 
559 P.2d 548 (1977); State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 
591, 682 P.2d 312 (1984). 
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RCW 9A.52.010(5). Although a process server may be 

licensed to enter onto property to serve process, 5 

the law does not permit him to remain after he has 

completed service and been ordered off the 

property. State v. Redwine, 72 Wn. App. 625, 865 

P.2d 552, review denied, 124 Wn.2d 1012 (1994). 

Mr. Kayser was entitled to defend against trespass 

when Mr. Adams did not leave his property as 

ordered. Once he was told to leave and did not 

leave, Mr. Adams was trespassing. 

ii. The Defense presented evidence 
of malice. 

As in Redwine, Mr. Adams's refusal to leave 

after being told to go warranted an instruction on 

defense of property. Redwine, 72 Wn. App. at 631. 

( 12) 11 Malice 11 and "maliciously 11 

shall import an evil intent, wish, or 
design to vex, annoy, or injure another 
person. Malice may be inferred from an 
act done in wilful disregard of the 
rights of another, or an act wrongfully 
done without just cause or excuse, or an 
act or omission of duty betraying a 
wilful disregard of social duty; . . . . 

RCW 9A.04.110(12). 

5 RCW 9A.52.090(4) provides serving legal 
process is a legal defense to a criminal 
prosecution for criminal trespass; it does not 
specifically license every process server to enter 
property. App. D. This case did not involve a 
prosecution of Mr. Adams. 
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Mr. Adams came on the property without driving 

up where visitors.come to the office or residence. 

He looked into windows, tried locked doors, and 

went behind buildings. Even when confronted and 

asked who he was, he did not identify himself by 

name or by purpose. Even before he was ordered to 

leave, his conduct was inappropriate. 

As in Redwine, Mr. Kayser believed Mr. Adams 

was reaching into his case for a gun. Mr. Kayser 

also believed Mr. Adams was standing too near his 

wife and frightening her. Slip Op. at 2. Thus, if 

"malice" is separately required to defend against 

trespass, Mr. Adams' furtive conduct, and Mr. 

Kayser's belief that Mr. Adams was frightening his 

wife and reaching for a gun was evidence that his 

failure to leave was malicious. 

iii. The defense presented evidence 
of subjective belief in Mr. 
Adams' malice. 

The facts of State v. Redwine, supra, nearly 

mirror this case. Hines came onto Redwine's 

property to serve process. Redwine ordered him off 

the property. Hines claimed Redwine kicked him as 

he went to his car. Hines sat in his car on the 

property, making notes. Redwine saw Hines reach 
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into a case which appeared to contain a pistol. 

Redwine got his shotgun. Hines then left. 

Redwine was convicted of assault in the fourth 

degree for kicking, and assault in the second 

degree for the shotgun. The trial court instructed 

on self-defense and defense of property. The state 

argued on appeal that Redwine had not presented 

sufficient evidence to warrant self-defense or 

defense of property instructions. 

Appeals rejected this argument. 6 

The Court of 

As to the fourth degree assault, Mr. 
Redwine produced evidence Mr. Hines 
remained on the property, refusing to 
leave after serving the papers. As to 
the second degree assault, Mr. Redwine 
presented evidence that he believed Mr. 
Hines was reaching for a pistol. We 
agree this evidence is sufficient to 
require an instruction on lawful use of 
force on both charges. 

Id. at 631 (emphases added) , 

Here the Court of Appeals erroneously applied 

an objective standard for defense of property. 

This error led it to mistakenly deny Mr. Kayser's 

claim for ineffective assistance of counsel. 7 The 

6 

grounds. 

7 

I, § 22. 

The Court of Appeals reversed on other 

u.s. Const., amends. 6, 14; Const., art. 
See App. D. 
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subjective standard required less evidence than 

self-defense, and so it was not a reasonable 

strategy to abandon defense of property in favor of 

self-defense. 

The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with 

the cited decisions of this Court and the Court of 

Appeals and presents a significant constitutional 

question ·this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b) (1)-

( 3) . 

2. THE MANDATORY THREE-YEAR SENTENCE 
11 ENHANCEMENT" AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE 
VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND 
PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF PUBLIC 
IMPORTANCE. RAP 13.4 (b) (3), (4) . 

a. constitutional Punishment Must 
Permit the Court to Consider an 
Offender's Age and the 
Attendant Characteristics and 
Circumstances. 

The Eighth Amendment's prohibition 
of cruel and unusual punishment 
"guarantees individuals the right not to 
be subjected to excessive sanctions." 

That right, we have explained, 
"flows from the basic 'precept of justice 
that punishment for crime should be 
graduated and proportioned'" to both the 
offender and the offense. 

Miller v. Alabama, u.s. I 132 s. Ct. 24551 

2463, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012) (emphasis added). 

"An offender's age ... is relevant to the 
Eighth Amendment," and so "criminal 
procedure laws that fail to take 
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defendants' youthfulness into account at 
all would be flawed." 

Id. at 2464. Thus in Miller, the Supreme Court 

overturned mandatory life sentences for offenders 

under age 18. It held the Constitution guarantees 

a court discretion to consider the offender's age 

and the many qualities inherent in that age. It 

held the mandatory sentencing scheme was flawed 

because it gave no significance to "the 
character and record of the individual 
offender or the circumstances" of the 
offense and 11 exclud[ed] from 
consideration the possibility of 
compassionate or mitigating factors." 

Miller, 132 s. Ct. at 2467. Mandatory penalties, 

it held, 

by their nature preclude a sentencer from 
taking account of an offender's age and 
the wealth of characteristics and 
circumstances attendant to it. 

Miller, 132 at 2467. It thus held the Eighth 

Amendment forbids mandatory sentences of life in 

prison without parole for juveniles. 11 [S] uch a 

scheme poses too great a risk of disproportionate 

punishment. 11 Id. at 2469. 6 

8 See also: State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 
680, 358 P.3d 259 (2015} (sentencing court may give 
exceptional sentence below the range based on 
reduced culpability because of age and accompanying 
circumstances); State v. Ronquillo, 190 Wn. App. 
765, 775, 361 P.3d 779 (2015} (under Miller, a 
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b. The BRA Unconstitutionally Removes 
the Court's Discretion to Consider 
the Specific Qualities of the Person 
Before It. 

The Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 1 RCW Ch. 

9.94A 1 removed the court's ability to consider the 

qualities of· the individual before it for 

sentencing. The Act removes an individualrs 

personal characteristics from consideration, RCW 

9.94A.010 1 RCW 9.94A.340; even for mitigating 

purposes, RCW 9.94A.S3S. 

This Court9 has interpreted the SRA to 

prohibit using personal characteristics for 

exceptional sentences downward. Criticizing the 

majority, Justice Madsen pointed out: 

It is the majority of this court 1 not the 
SRA, that has closed the door on exercise 

sentencer must consider offender's age and 
attendant characteristics before imposing a de 
facto life sentence -- to age 68).

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