RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 30, 2016, 3:51 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK Supreme Court No. 92836-3 (Court of Appeals No. 71518-6-I) RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ï

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

STEVEN KAYSER, Appellant.

### **ANSWER/CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW**

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By KIMBERLY THULIN Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent WSBA #21210/ADMIN #91075

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 778.5710



#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, State of Washington, Respondent, asks this Court to review one of three issues examined by the Court of Appeals, Division One, referred to in section B that resulted in the reversal of Steven Kayser's conviction for assault in the second degree with a deadly weapon. The State additionally requests this Court deny review of the two additional issues Kayser petitioned for further review on March 2<sup>nd</sup> 2016, for the reasons set forth herein.

#### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State of Washington petitions this Court for review of the Court of Appeals opinion in <u>State v. Kayser</u>, #71518-6-I (unpublished) which was filed December 21<sup>st</sup> 2016. Specifically, to review whether the Court of Appeals erred reversing Mr. Kayser's conviction based solely on the trial court's discretionary decision to admit a mock up of a 'sign' found taped to the inside of a window in Kayser's business office where Kayser kept his shotgun.

The sign said 'stop', 'this is a very dangerous place' and warned of an 'armed response.' The language on the sign suggests Kayser had a predesigned plan to deal with perceived trespassers as further corroborated by the shotgun ready for use in Kayser's office and the 'memoranda of trespassing incident' given to officers by Kayser immediately after his arrest. The language in Kayser's sign was therefore probative in assessing Kayser's 'intent' in the context of the State's allegation that he intentionally assaulted the process server and in rebutting Kayser's contention that he only was compelled in the moment to shoot at the process server in protect himself and his wife. Moreover, the record below reflects this evidence was not presented or argued as impermissible character evidence and played a minimal role at trial. The prosecutor only mentioned it in passing during closing cautioning the jury this evidence was relevant only in evaluating Kayser's intent.

The Court of Appeals substituted its judgment for that of the trial court in concluding the trial court's decision to admit this evidence was unreasonable and that alleged non constitutional error was not harmless. In doing so, the Court of Appeals decision abrogates the principle of affording trial court's discretion in making evidentiary decisions. A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

Review of the remaining two issues Kayser requests review of in his March 2<sup>nd</sup> 2016 petition however, should be denied. The Court of Appeals appropriately rejected Kayser's ineffective assistance of counsel argument because the record reflects his attorney reasonably strategically

decided to withdraw a request to have the jury instructed on a defense of property theory, to focus on his remaining self-defense and defense of other theories, after agreeing the trial court should instruct the jury on the definition of malicious as it related to the defense of property theory. Kayser's trial attorney's decision was strategically reasonable because the plain language of the statutory defense of property provides one may lawfully justify the use of force in defense of property *only* if preventing a 'malicious' trespass or interference of property.

The use, attempt, or offer to use force upon or toward the person of another is not unlawful in the following cases:

(3) whenever used by a party about to be injured, or by another lawfully aiding him or her, in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against his or her person, or *malicious trespass*, or other *malicious interference with real or persona property* lawfully in his or her possession, in case the force is not more than is necessary.

RCW 9A.16.020. (*emphasis added*). "Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all of the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." <u>State v. Hirschfelder</u>, 170 Wn.2d 536, 242 P.3d 876 (2010). The term 'malicious' pursuant to RCW 9A.04.110(12) is defined as to have "an evil intent, wish or design to vex, annoy or injure another person." Legislative definitions provided by the statute is controlling. <u>State v. Sullivan</u>, 143 Wn.2d 162, 19 P.3d 1012 (2001).

Consistent with the analysis contained within the Court of Appeals decision, Kayser's trial attorney reasonably concluded the defense of property requires some evidence to support the jury finding the alleged trespasser trespassed or interfered with the defendant's property, with *malicious intent* based on the objective and subjective standards set forth in the jury instructions. <u>State v. Walden</u>, 131 Wn.2d 469, 475, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). The Court of Appeals therefore accurately concluded in context to Kayser's ineffective assistance of counsel claim, that "it was a legitimate tactical decision for counsel to decide against pursuing a defense that would require the jury to find that Adams acted with 'malice' in contrast to the 'reasonable belief' standard applicable in the self-defense and defense of others theory. The Court of Appeals discussion of the defense of property in the context of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, that end the self-defense and defense of property in the context of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim is not inaccurate and does not warrant further review.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals appropriately denied Kayser's pro-se request to review an additional ground pertaining to his sentence. On direct appeal, Kayser argued in a statement of additional grounds of review, the trial court should have had discretion to impose a shorter

sentence in consideration of his age, *citing* <u>Miller v. Alabama</u>, \_\_U.S.\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012). The Court of Appeals determined <u>Miller</u> was applicable to juveniles and therefore, not applicable to Kayser because he is not a juvenile offender. Now, Kayser requests review *not* of this issue, but on a related issue asserting the trial court should have had discretion to impose an exceptional sentence below the mandatory 36 month firearm enhancement predicated on the constitutional analysis set forth in <u>Miller</u>. See, COA Opinion at 12, as compared to Kayser Pet. for Review at 8. Consideration of an issue, not argued in the Court of Appeals should be denied.

Even if reviewable, <u>Miller</u> is not applicable to Kayser's sentence. Moreover, Kayser cannot demonstrate imposition of the mandatory firearm enhancement, as authorized by the legislature and the jury special verdict violates the Eight Amendment. See, <u>State v. Houston-Sconiers</u>, \_\_\_\_\_Wn.App. \_\_\_\_, 365 P.3d 177 (2015). Review of this alleged sentencing error, not litigated in the Court of Appeals, should be denied.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court has a substantial interest in ensuring multiple trials are not required at public expense. Should review be granted where the record reflects the trial court reasonably exercised its discretion to admit relevant evidence for the limited purpose of assessing Kayser's intent and where reversal is not appropriate under a nonconstitutional standard of review because the admitted evidence was not inherently prejudicial, was not presented or argued impermissibly and played a minor role at trial?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Steven Kayser is an educated man not unfamiliar with civil litigation. He has, according to trial testimony, worked as a forensic accountant in criminal fraud matters, has a history of involvement in both civil and criminal litigation and is, along with his wife, Gloria Young, the registered agent of multiple companies.

On February 10<sup>th</sup>, 2010 at 4 p.m., however, when a process server went to Kayser's property and served him and his wife, Gloria Young with legal papers, Kayser angrily told the process server he had 5 seconds to get off his property or "I'll shoot you." RP 265-66, 268, 343. At the time Kayser, his wife and the process server, Adams, were standing in a large gravel parking area that ran alongside a long pole building where Kayser ran his business. While counting to five, Kayser quickly retrieved a loaded shotgun from his business office in the pole building, returned to the gravel parking lot and fired a live round of ammunition toward the process server, who was then trying to get back to his vehicle to leave. RP 268-69. As the process server tried to get in his car and get his keys in the ignition, Kayser leveled the shotgun at him and the car. RP 272, 348. Adams ducked under the front dash board as Kayser fired a second time. RP 273, see also, RP 350 (Adams contends Kayser's defense investigator mischaracterized his defense interview), 351, 994. The process server thought he was dead. RP 278. At trial, the process server explained after the first shot, Kayser leveled the shotgun at him and his car prior to firing his shotgun and Adams was surprised the car did not appear to be hit. RP 273, 267. As the process server squealed away in his car, Kayser continued counting and fired a third shot over but near the process server's vehicle. A neighbor, Dawneeeta Demmer corroborated the process server's account, testifying she saw Adams car pull into Kayser's property through an open gate and subsequently heard loud counting, gunshots and his car squealing out of Kayser's gravel driveway. RP 36, 373, 371.

Kayser believed he had the right to use his shotgun in response to an illegal trespasser on his private property notwithstanding the open gate and the fact that Kayser conducted business at the property and received deliveries in the gravel parking area that ran along the pole building where Kayser's business office was located. Kayser even typed up a 'memoranda of trespassing incident' that he gave when law enforcement that stated:

Today at approximately 4 p.m. Gloria called me from the house to tell me she was very concerned that someone was snooping around our buildings and wanted to know if I had an appointment with someone. I was in my office in the warehouse. I walked outside by the corner of the garage and Gloria looked afraid and was standing several feet away from a very large man with long flowing hair. I walked up within several feet of the man and asked what he wanted and told him he was trespassing. He did not speak his name and did not provide his name. The man asked if I was Steven Kayser and I answered I was and again told him he was trespassing. He moved toward me and handed me something. I backed away without looking at what he handed me. At that point I again told him he was trespassing and told him he had five seconds to get on my property and away from my wife. He did not leave but instead asked me to sign something he had and started opening a clipboard type of metal container and started reaching for something. At that point I again told him to get off my property and counted to five. I then told him I was going to my office for my shotgun and turned away from him and walked quickly to get my shotgun as I was concerned that he was standing too close to Gloria. I got my shotgun and quickly walked back to the corner of the garage where he was standing and he had not left but was still standing too close, about five feet from Gloria. I again told him he had the count of five to get of my property. He still did not move. I counted to five and fired one warning shot in the air. At that point the man started walking slowly back to his car, which he had parked about 30 feet from the yellow entrance gate, a clear indication that he had read the not trespassing sign. He halted at his car, I fired another warning shot in the air. He got into his car and made a gesture at me with something in his hand. I fired a third warning shot while on my property, he then accelerated out of the driveway and squealed his tires backing onto the road and left.

RP 400-422, CP \_\_\_Plaintiff's exhibit 105. Nothing in Kayser's typed out memoranda or comments to law enforcement stated Kayser or his wife thought the process server had a weapon, that they feared for their lives or

that Adams was doing anything other than allegedly refusing to leave Kayser's property. RP 459. In contrast to Kayser's version of the trespassing incident, Adams explained that when Kayser walked up to him, he appeared angry and then after being served, Kayser looked at the papers and then got really mad and told him he had five seconds to get off his property. RP 267.

Inside Kayser's office, where Kayser was when Adams arrived where Kayser retrieved his shotgun from, investigators found a mock up of a warning sign that stated "stop" "do not" "this with permission from owner" "and appt" "this is a very dangerous place" RP 457, see also Supp CP \_\_\_\_\_ (exhibit 90-91). On the bottom of the mocked up sign, another sticky attached to it said "armed response." RP 457-459. In light of Kayser's claim that he was entitled to eject Adams as a trespasser investigators seized this sign. This sign was later introduced at trial, read into evidence and mentioned briefly once in closing argument as relevant only to assessing Kayser's intent. Steven Kayser was subsequently charged with assault in the second degree with a deadly weapon. RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c). CP 3-4.

At trial, Kayser claimed he lawfully fired his shotgun at the process server because he and his wife were afraid the process server had a gun,

they felt threatened and feared for their persons and their property. RP 875. This claim was in stark contrast to the calm demeanor Gloria Young appeared to have to investigators immediately following the shooting. RP 455, 585. Neither Kayser nor Young called the police or 911 while the process server, Adams was on their property or after Adams fled. RP 459.

Prior to trial, the state agreed not present any testimony or argue that Kayser's conduct was consistent with the no trespass sign seized from Kayser's business office. 1RP 30. Consistent with the trial court's ruling, the state presented the sign but did not offer any testimony beyond reciting to the jury what the sign said. No further questions or testimony was presented relating to the no trespassing office sign. In closing argument, the prosecutor made one statement in passing, asserting the sign was relevant solely for the limited of assessing of Kayser's intentions during the incident. RP 1071. Despite the limited role this singular piece of evidence played at trial, the Court of Appeals concluded not only that the trial court abused its discretion admitting this evidence; characterizing it as impermissible character evidence pursuant to ER 404(b), but also that its admission was not harmless and warranted reversal of the jury's verdict. The Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with the record and impermissibly substitutes its own judgment for that of the trial court. Further review is therefore warranted.

#### E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is warranted because the public has a substantial interest in ensuring trials aren't reversed based on reasonable discretionary decisions of the trial court; particularly where the admitted evidence is relevant, did not play a significant role at trial and the evidence was not presented or argued as impermissible character evidence pursuant to ER 404(b). RAP 13.4(b)(4). As such, the Court of Appeals decision abrogates the standard of review in reviewing trial court decisions admitting evidence and conflicts with <u>State v. Foxhoven</u>, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174-5, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).

The abuse of discretion standard applicable when examining the admissibility of evidence reversal requires a determination that the trial court decision was manifestly unreasonable was exercised on untenable grounds or was made for untenable reasons. The record in this case reflects no such abuse of discretion occurred in this case. The trial court appropriately admitted a mock up of a 'sign' found taped to the inside of a window in Kayser's business office, on his property, that warned 'stop' without 'permission from owner' this was a 'very dangerous place' and of

an 'armed response.' The state argued this evidence was logically relevant and therefore admissible to a material issue before the jury, in assessing Kayser intentions when he retrieved and fired his shotgun at a process server in response to being served a civil summons and complaint.

ER 404(b) precludes admission of evidence of crimes, acts or any evidence offered to "show the character of a person to prove that the person acted in conformity with that character" but permits trial courts, acting within their discretion, to admit evidence that is relevant other permissible purposes such as demonstrating motive, plan or intent. <u>State v.</u> <u>Foxhoven</u>, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174-5, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).

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